DA.1-8-93

THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA Case No. 78,636

22 1992

CLERK SUPREME COURT

chief Deputy Clerk

Petitioner,

JUNE MILLER,

Third District Case No. 91-1025

vs.

MICHAEL J. SCHOU,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER, JUNE MILLER

Andrew S. Berman, Esq. Fla. Bar No. 370932

Barry S. Franklin, Esq. By: Fla. Bar No. 279633

YOUNG, FRANKLIN & BERMAN, P.A. 17071 West Dixie Highway North Miami Beach, Florida 33160 (305) 945-1851

Attorneys for Petitioner

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is a petition filed by Petitioner/Former Wife, JUNE MILLER ("MILLER") to review an Opinion of the Third District Court of Appeal. Respondent/Former Husband, MICHAELJ. SCHOU, will be referred to as "SCHOU". Jurisdiction was accepted based upon an express and direct conflict between the Opinion below and opinions of other District Courts of Appeal and this Court, pursuant to Article V, §3(b)(3), Fla. Const. and Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure 9.030(2)(A)(iv).

References to the record will be by the symbol ("R.__"). All emphasis is ours unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

MILLER and SCHOU were divorced from each other on September 26, 1983. (R.90). They had one child of the marriage, a daughter, Dana, who was then three (3) years old and is now eleven (11) years old. (R.90).

At the time of the divorce, SCHOU was a medical resident earning only a modest income. (R.90). The Property Settlement Agreement executed by MILLER and SCHOU and incorporated into the Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage provided that MILLER was to have primary physical custody of the parties' daughter, Dana, (R.122) and SCHOU was to pay her \$500.00 per month in child support. (R.125).

Shortly after the dissolution, SCHOU began his own private practice **as** an anesthesiologist. (R.15). MILLER has not obtained and did not seek an increase in child support since the divorce until on or about March, 1990 when she filed her Supplemental Petition for Modification out of which these proceedings **arose**, (R.15).

In her Supplemental Petition, MILLER alleged a substantial change in circumstances to support an increase in child support, to wit: increased needs of the child due to schooling; extracurricular activities and the like; SCHOU's substantial (but unspecified) increase in income; and the impact of inflation which has dramatically reduced the real value of the 1983 award of \$500.00 per month. (R.15,16). MILLER did not request a specific amount of increased child support in her Supplemental Petition'.

SCHOU counterpetitioned for a change in custody (R.134) which was denied, after

In an abundance of caution, MILLER has since amended her Petition to include a specific claim for increased child support based upon SCHOU's "good fortune" alone.

trial. He did not appeal.

a

In June, 1990 MILLER served a Request for Production of Documents on **SCHOU**, seeking full and complete financial information in connection with her pending application for an increase in child support. (R.21–24). SCHOU responded by filing filed an unsworn Motion for Protective Order. (R.25). In it he claimed, through counsel, that based upon MILLER's financial affidavit, it "appears that she has a need of child support in the approximate amount of \$3,000.00" and that while he "vigorously disagrees" that she needs that amount "he has the financial ability to pay that amount of child support if such is the award of this Court." (R.25). **SCHOU** therefore claimed that his financial condition was no longer **an** issue in the case and sought protection from any and all financial discovery.

Thereafter, the trial court held a hearing on **SCHOU's** Motion for Protective Order and MILLER's Motion to Compel. MILLER argued that she was entitled to financial discovery, not only on the issue of the child's "needs", but also because Dana was entitled to share in the good fortune of her father, which could not be measured without the discovery. The trial court agreed and ordered **SCHOU** to provide "a current and complete financial affidavit in the form and content approved by the Florida Supreme Court" but deferred ruling on MILLER's Motion to Compel "other financial document production." (R.12).

SCHOU then filed a Petition for Common Law Writ of Certiorari in the Third District Court of Appeal of Florida seeking to quash the order compelling production of his financial affidavit solely because of the stipulation contained in his Motion for Protective

Order. (R.1). MILLER responded in opposition arguing, in part, that SCHOU cannot be permitted to avoid financial disclosure by confession of ability to pay, where an increase in child support is requested, in part, based upon the good fortune of SCHOU. (R.88).

The Third District sided with SCHOU and quashed the order compelling him to provide a financial affidavit to MILLER. *Schou v. Miller*, 583 So.2d 805 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991). (R.189). The Third District reasoned that SCHOU's stipulated ability to satisfy any increase in Dana's needs sought by MILLER eliminated his personal finances as an issue in the case. The Third District also denied MILLER's application for appellate attorney's fees.

This Petition followed.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Thirc District erred in concluding that the trial **court** departed from essential requirements of law in requiring **SCHOU**, **as** noncustodial parent of the minor child, Dana, to supply her mother, **MILLER**, the custodial parent, with a financial affidavit in connection with child support modification proceedings simply because SCHOU stipulated to his ability to pay any perceived increase in the child's needs.

All District Courts of Appeal of Florida have held that child support may be upwardly modified if *either* the needs of a child increase *or* there is a substantial increase in the noncustodial parent's income. In so holding, all Districts have embraced the concept that a child is entitled to share in the good fortune of *both* parents. The Opinion below, which precluded MILLER from obtaining any financial discovery from **SCHOU**, wittingly or not, emasculated the right of **SCHOU's** child to share in his good fortune by denying **MILLER** the necessary proof to establish it.

Other courts, including this Court, have expressed displeasure with the filing of stipulations to avoid financial discovery in dissolution and related cases. An end run around discovery is particularly abhorrent on these facts because SCHOU's financial condition is central and indispensable to the analysis involved with MILLER's motion for increased child support. If enhanced good fortune is to survive as a basis for increasing child support, financial discovery must never be abridged or short circuited by stipulation. In fact, the right to child support belongs to the child and a court has inherent authority to modify child support, regardless of any contract between the parties. If a father may not, by contract, impair his obligation to support his minor children, we submit he cannot

do so by unilateral stipulation either.

In addition to the foregoing reasons, the trial court correctly required SCHOU to supply a financial affidavit in accordance with Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.611(a) and Florida Statute §61.30(12) (1991). The Third District's suggestion that the Statute may be unconstitutional to the extent it conflicts with the Rule is erroneous.

First, the Statute and the Rule do not conflict. Although not identical, both require SCHOU to supply MILLER with **a** financial affidavit at least ten (10) days before the trial. The fact that the Statute requires less detailed information is of no import here.

Second, the Legislature has power to enact procedural statutes, especially for the implementation of substantive rights, which power is limited only in the event the proposed Statute conflicts with an existing Rule of Procedure adopted by this Court. Since §61.30(12) was enacted to implement the policy to set minimum guidelines for child support payments based upon the combined net income of the obligor and obligee parent and since the Statute cannot be implemented without financial disclosure, the Statute is not unconstitutional because it does not conflict with the Rule.

Finally, the Third District seemed to imply in its Opinion that its prior decisions have construed Rule **1.611**(a) to apply only where a noncustodial parent does not stipulate to his ability to pay the increase in child support. Ergo, to the extent the Statute would override that judicially created exception to the Rule, it would be unconstitutional. Based upon the foregoing arguments that such stipulations are against public policy and should never preclude financial discovery, the Statute will not be in conflict with the Third District's interpretation of the Rule if this Court holds that a stipulation of financial ability

cannot preclude financial discovery.

The Opinion of the Third District should be quashed and the case remanded with instructions that SCHOU file a financial affidavit and full financial discovery may be permitted, subject to the control of the trial court, in accordance with the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure.

ARGUMENT

I. THE NONCUSTODIAL PARENT SHOULD NOT BE ALLOWED TO AVOID FINANCIAL DISCOVERY IN A POST DISSOLUTION PROCEEDING TO INCREASE CHILD SUPPORT BY MAKING AN UNSWORN ACKNOWLEDGEMENT SUGGESTING ABILITY TO PAY

Florida Statutes Section 61.13(1)(a)(1991) provides in pertinent part as follows:

In a proceeding for dissolution of marriage, the court may at any time order either or both parents who owe a duty of support to a child to pay support **as** from the circumstances of the parties and the nature of the case is equitable. The court initially entering an order requiring one or both parents to make child support payments shall have continuing jurisdiction after the entry of the initial order to modify the amount and terms and conditions of the child support payments when the modification is found necessary by the court in the best interests of the child, when the child reaches majority, or when there is a substantial change in the Circumstances of the parties.

The five District Courts of Appeal of Florida are unanimous in interpreting a "substantial change in circumstances" necessary to modify a child support award under this Section as either an increase in the child's needs *or* a substantial increase in the noncustodial parents income. In so holding, all Districts have embraced the concept that a child is entitled to share in the good fortune of both parents. First District: *Hosseini v. Hosseini*, 564 So.2d 548 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990); Second District: *Smith v.* Smith, 474 So.2d 1212 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985), rev. *den.*, 486 So.2d 597 (1986); Third District: Creelv. Creel,

568 So.2d 942 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990); Fourth District: *Asrani v. Asrani*, 591 So.2d 283 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991); Fifth District: *Wanstall v.* Wanstall, 427 So.2d 353 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983)^{2,3} This Court has apparently not directly addressed this issue of good fortune. However, we believe that the unanimous conclusions of the District Courts of Appeal are consistent with natural and Florida law and policy. See *eg.* Florida Statutes Section 61.30 (Supp.1992) which was recently amended by the Legislature to allow for child support guidelines alone to provide a basis for a substantial change in circumstances upon which a modification of an existing child support order may be granted.

The issue here is whether the opinion of the Third District below, which precluded MILLER from obtaining any discovery into SCHOU's finances, wittingly or not, emasculated the right of SCHOU's child to share in his good fortune by denying MILLER (as a *cestui qui* trustee) the necessary proof to establish it". The problem in denying

This is intended to be a representative, not an exhaustive list of District Court *cases* on the subject.

See also Florida Statutes Section 61.14(1)(1991) which allows for a modification of child support if the "circumstances or the financial ability of *either party* changes" and provides that the equitable award should be based upon "changed circumstances or the financial ability of the parties *or* the *child*." In addition, *Bedell v. Bedell*, 583 So.2d 1005 (Fla. 1991) recently interpreted Section 61.14(1) to allow, in extraordinary cases, an increase in alimony based *solely* upon a *substantial* change in circumstances of the payor spouse.

We note that multiple Third District cases have recognized the rights of children to share in either parent's good fortune. These cases allow an increase in child support based solely upon a substantial increase in the noncustodial parent's income. See Creel; Schottenstein v, Schottenstein, 384 So.2d 933 (Fla. 3d DCA), rev. den., 392 So.2d 1378 (1980); Meltzer v. Meltzer, 356 So.2d 1263 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978), cert. den., 370 So.2d 460 (1979); Sherman v. Sherman, 279 So.2d 887 (Fla. 3d DCA), cert dismissed, 282 So.2d 877 (1973). However, at least one (1) Third District case has mysteriously denied an increase in child support based solely upon a substantial increase in the noncustodial parent's income by creating a rule that "there must also be an increase in the [child's] needs which may be met only by a change in the existing judicial award. Young v. Young, 456 So.2d 1282, 1289 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984); See also Schufflebarger v. Schufflebarger, 460 So.2d 982 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984). The Third District has never resolved the intradistrict conflict between Young and the other above-referenced Third District cases which are consonant with the positions of all other Districts. However, it was Young that was relied upon in the Third District opinion below, which was, coincidentally, authored by the author of Young.

MILLER the financial discovery she requested was eloquently identified by the trial court, which ordered SCHOU to provide ${\bf a}$ financial affidavit:

If a child is entitled to the good fortune of a parent and if we never know what that good fortune is, how do we know what the child is entitled to? (R.50).

Without acknowledging the need for MILLER to have access to proof necessary to establish SCHOU's good fortune - or even whether his child was entitled to share in his good fortune - the Third District simply chose to eliminate from consideration any information concerning his financial condition solely on the strength of a non-verified unilateral stipulation contained in his Motion for Protective Order, signed only by his attorney, that he could afford to pay the increase in child support that he thought MILLER was requesting. Although not referenced in the opinion below, the Third District has adopted a rule of law that if a noncustodial parent stipulates to his/her ability to pay an increase in child support "a court can properly assume that his [/her] earnings and assets have substantially increased." Schufflebarger v. Schufflebarger, 460 So.2d 982,984 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984); Schottenstein v. Schottenstein, 384 So.2d 933 (Fla. 3d DCA), rev. denied, 392 So.2d 1378 (1980). We can only speculate whether that presumption played a role in the decision below. Regardless, the Third District held that requiring SCHOU to supply a financial affidavit in view of his stipulation, "represented a departure from the essential requirements of law."

Former Justice Boyd, in his concurrence in Jones v. State, 477 So.2d 566, 569

We will argue herein that such a presumption is inadequate for purposes of establishing the mount of "good fortune."

(Fla. 1985), defined "departure from essential requirements of law" as "far beyond legal error." "It means the inherent irregularity, an abuse of judicial power, an act of judicial tyranny perpetuated with disregard of procedural requirements, resulting in a gross miscarriage of justice. The writ of certiorari properly issues to correct essential illegality but not legal error." Given that definition, it is obvious that the Third District's conclusion, that the order of the trial court was such a departure, was itself erroneous.

A. The trial court did *not* depart from essential requirements of law in ordering SCHOU to file a financial affidavit, notwithstandinghis stipulation, since his financial status is central to the issue of child support modification.

In *Orlowitz v. Orlowitz*, **199 So.2d** 97 (Fla. **1967**), this Court quashed a decision of the Third District which upheld a protective order in a divorce case prohibiting a wife from inquiring into any financial matters of her husband because of his stipulation that he could "answer to any reasonable order for costs, fees or other allowances." This Court held that the husband admitted nothing by his stipulation and that "the financial ability of the parties is one of the more important elements that enter into the determination of the amount of alimony and other allowances." *Id.* at 98.

There, as here, the husband/father argued that the stipulation eliminated all issues from consideration except "need". In *Orlowitz*, however, this Court held the husband's finances relevant to issues of his residency and claims of adultery. Here, the increased "needs" of the child is only one of several factors essential to a full, fair and complete

assessment of the amount of increase in support to which the child is entitled. Need and good fortune are disjunctive, not conjunctive criteria in the analysis. An increase in either alone may support an increase in the amount of child support. Hosseini; Smith; Creel; Asrani; Wanstall.

Orlowitz also favorably cited Parker v. Parker, 182 So.2d 498 (Fla. 4th DCA 1966) where, despite an admission by the husband that he was worth five million dollars and was well able to satisfy the needs of the wife and child, the Fourth District affirmed the denial of his motion for protective order and held as follows:

We must say, based upon our understanding of the Rules and philosophy behind them, that we do not look with favor upon the husband's position in not wishing to reveal any of the details of his financial position and his effort to bridle the dependents' discovery rights by substituting his secondary non-verifiable conclusion in lieu of primary detailed facts. The adversary and the court are entitled to the whole factual picture to the end that an independent, complete understanding and evaluation may be had.

182 So.2d at 500.

Judicial disdain for stipulations which undermine the full and fair disclosure of financial information in these, archetypical equitable proceedings, has continued to the present day. In *Eyster v. Eyster*, 503 So.2d 340 (Fla. 1st DCA), rev. den, 513 So.2d 1061 (1987), the First District held in an alimony modification proceeding that the trial court did not depart from essential requirements of law in requiring a former husband to answer interrogatories concerning his income, notwithstanding his stipulation of ability to pay a reasonable amount of alimony determined by the court. *Eyster* strongly supports

our position because, as pointed out by its dissent, the only issue arguably remaining there – in view of the stipulation – was the former wife's need. Here, unlike a former spouse, a child is entitled to share in the ex-husband/father's good fortune and so a child support modification proceeding necessarily always embraces issues beyond need.

The First District reaffirmed its policy of presenting "the whole factual picture" in modification proceedings when it held in *Walton v. Walton*, 537 **So.2d** 658 (Fla. 1st DCA), *rev.* den., 545 **So.2d** 1370 (1989) that the trial court erred in unduly limiting discovery into the former husband's finances notwithstanding that he filed a financial affidavit.

Recently, this Court noted in Bedell v. Bedell, 583 So.2d 1005, 1006, n.2 (Fla. 1991), a case involving a petition to increase alimony where the former husband acknowledged his ability to pay any reasonable increase, as follows:

By virtue of the wording of this concession, the husband was able to prevent the wife from discovering his current financial status, while at the same time preserving his right to appeal from an order which he deemed unreasonable. However, because this issue was not raised, we do not pass on the propriety of this or any concession which enables a spouse to preclude an inquiry into his or her actual financial circumstances.

Bedell, in interpreting Section 61.14(1), held that a substantial change in the financial ability of the payor spouse may, by itself in extraordinary cases, be sufficient to justify an increase in alimony. The above footnote suggests that this Court remains concerned with the lack of full financial disclosure in contested family law matters, consistent with its earlier pronouncements in *Orlowitz*.

Not only is the opinion below in conflict with the above cases which favor a

presentation of "the whole factual picture," but it effectively emasculates a substantive right of a child by preventing the introduction of an essential factual component in child support modification analysis; the extent of the noncustodial parent's good fortune.

In discussing the concept of "good fortune", the Fifth District in Wanstallstated **as** follows:

A child is entitled to enjoy the mode of living that the parents set for themselves. [cite omitted]. The child's *standard of living may not be* relegated *to* the *standard set by* the *parties during the marriage.* It is entitled to share the good fortune of both parties.

427 So.2d at 355.

a

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