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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In post-dissolution proceedings for an increase in child support, the non-custodial parent should be able to limit expensive, intrusive and time consuming discovery of his finances, by admitting his ability to pay any increase in child support which the court determines to be reasonable. Once this threshold issue has been resolved by admission, the finances of the non-custodial parent become irrelevant and no further financial discovery should be permitted. The court can then focus its attention on <u>the needs of the child</u>, from which it can determine the amount of increased child support, if any.

The child's financial needs are not a function of the amount of "good fortune" of the non-custodial parent. The only legitimate concern of the courts is to award financial support sufficient to insure the comfort, safety, health and education of the child. The courts should not be permitted to capriciously award a windfall to the child because this would usurp parental discretion to raise the child with a sense of fiscal responsibility. Child support should not include excess sums to enable the child (and recipient parent) to buy designer clothes, boats, fancy cars and other luxuries simply because the non-custodial parent is affluent. Financial discovery is, therefore, not necessary to determine the amount of "good fortune".

The filing of a financial affidavit in the present case is not required under Rule 1.611, Fla.R.Civ.P. because this Rule does not apply to post-dissolution modification proceedings. The trial court

CASE NO: 78,636

erroneously ordered the filing of the financial affidavit pursuant to §61.30(12) Fla. Stat. (1991) since this statute is an unconstitutional attempt by the legislature to promulgate a procedural rule. The continued control of the courts over practice and procedure is particularly compelling in family law matters in which the courts are becoming increasingly more concerned with expensive, avoidable litigation.

In matrimonial litigation, the preparation of a financial affidavit, and the process of financial discovery, can be extremely time-consuming for both the parties and their attorneys. Marital attorneys, who often charge \$250 per hour or more, have a financial incentive of their own to maximize discovery, especially when the parties are wealthy, and can afford to pay excessive fees. In situations where there is financial disparity between the parents, the more pecunious parent will most likely be required to pay the attorneys' fees of the other, which eliminates any desire of the less pecunious parent to control fees. Unbridled financial discovery funnels money into the pockets of the attorneys, to the detriment of the parents (who will suffer a depletion of their estates) and their children (who will suffer a diminution of their inheritance and college education funds).

The Florida Rules of Civil Procedure are designed to secure the just, speedy and inexpensive determination of every action. The stated intent of these rules would be thwarted if the courts were to

permit burdensome and costly discovery on an issue that has been resolved by stipulation. The courts must continue to take an active role in limiting needless discovery in matrimonial litigation in order to reduce excessive attorneys fees and costs.

CASE NO: 78,636

ARGUMENT

- I. IN LIGHT OF SCHOU'S STIPULATION OF ABILITY TO PAY A REASONABLE INCREASE IN CHILD SUPPORT, THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN REQUIRING SCHOU TO FILE A FINANCIAL AFFIDAVIT.
 - A. Where the Non-Custodial Parent in Child Support Modification Proceedings Admits Ability to Pay Increased Child Support, it is an Abuse of Discretion to Require the Filing of a Financial Affidavit and Compel that Parent to Comply with Financial Discovery.

The gravamen of this appeal is whether this Court should require the filing of a financial affidavit in post-dissolution litigation where the paying spouse has stipulated as to his ability to pay any increase in child support which the court deems reasonable. Ironically, this issue, as it affects the litigants here, is moot, since Schou subsequently filed the requested financial affidavit, despite his admission of ability to pay. Nevertheless, the Petitioner, supported by the Family Law Section of the Florida Bar, still seeks, as a matter of public policy, a ruling of this Court subjecting the estate of every paying spouse to an expensive financial audit comparable to an IRS criminal investigation.'

^{&#}x27;Miller and Amicus have raised two distinct issues in their briefs: 1) whether a financial affidavit should be filed by the father where he has stipulated his ability to pay; and 2) whether a parent can insulate himself from financial discovery under these circumstances. The second issue is not properly before this Court. In the order which is the subject of appeal, the trial court required Schou to file a financial affidavit, but deferred ruling

Of course, such routine audits would redound to the economic benefit of the members of the Family Law Section of the Bar since financial discovery generates enormous fees.

This court should not make it a routine practice, in every modification proceeding, to feed the coffers of matrimonial lawyers and forensic accountants by requiring each party *ipso facto* to file a financial affidavit and engage in unnecessary financial discovery, especially when the paying spouse stipulates his ability to pay any amount of a proven increase of need for alimony or child support. The court should retain the right, under such circumstances, to deny costly and invasive scrutiny of the financial estate of the paying spouse. The courts should protect the interests of the litigants and their children, not those of special interest lawyers and accountants.

on Miller's Motion to Compel other Document Production (R.12). The Third District quashed this order insofar as it required the filing of the financial affidavit. Schou v. Miller, 583 So.2d 805 (Fla. **3rd** DCA 1991). There has been no ruling by the trial court or the Third District as to whether Schou must respond to interrogatories and requests for production relating to his income and finances. An appellate court will not review those portions of an order on which the trial court reserved ruling. City of Miami Beach v. State ex rel Gerstein, 242 So.2d 170 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1970) cert. denied, 246 So.2d 573 (Fla. 1971). Therefore, the only issue properly before this Court is that relating to the financial affidavit. Nevertheless, Schou recognizes that once the Supreme Court has jurisdiction, it may, at its discretion, consider any issue affecting the case. Cantor v. Davis, 489 So. 2d 18 (Fla. 1986). Both issues are therefore addressed herein.

1. A Stipulation of Ability to Pay Increased Child Support is Designed to Narrow the Issues, Limit Intrusive Financial Discovery, and Sharply Reduce Attorneys Fees and Expenses.

The following hypothetical scenario may culminate in the filing of \mathbf{a} stipulation of ability to pay increased child support by \mathbf{a} divorced father:

Several years after the marriage is dissolved, the father is served with a petition for modification of child support. He confers with his own attorney who advises him: "My fees will be \$250 per hour, plus expenses.' Since you have a higher income than your ex-wife, you will most likely pay her attorneys fees and suit money as well. You will receive interrogatories and requests for production for financial information, which you will find outrageous in scope.⁴ We will file objections, and my opponent and I will fight for hours in court over those objections. Since your financial records are undoubtedly voluminous and convoluted, it will take you and your accountant hours, if not days, gathering, organizing, and reviewing your financial records, and preparing a financial affidavit. I will then spend

³\$250 per hour is a fee customarily charged by matrimonial attorneys in the South Florida area. See e.g. Schubot v. Schubot, 523 So.2d 661 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988); Browne v. Costales, 579 So.2d 161 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991) rev. den., 593 So.2d 1051 (Fla. 1991). This is not necessarily the fee charged by the attorneys in the present case.

⁴The request for production which was propounded by Miller to Schou (R21-24) is a good example of oppressive, burdensome discovery, (See Exhibit "B").

several hours reviewing the information for accuracy and completeness and putting it in a form responsive to the discovery requests.

"After we produce the financial information, your ex-wife's attorney, knowing that you will most likely pay all of his fees, will spend countless hours poring over the financial records in minute detail, looking for indications of hidden assets and evidence that the financial affidavit contains inaccuracies. He will then take several hours preparing for your deposition, and will question you at length over every apparent discrepancy, no matter how inconsequential, between your financial affidavit and documents. Your deposition will be long and unpleasant, and it will undoubtedly take place during working hours, which will cause you problems at work. I might instruct you not to answer certain questions, which will lead to another trip to the courthouse, and perhaps a continuation of your deposition.

"Your ex-wife's attorney will take the depositions of your accountant, your current wife, and maybe even your investment broker and employer. Since you are a member of a professional association, its records might be subpoenaed and an appeal might ensue.⁵ You will probably be required to pay your ex-wife's attorney's fees on such an

^{&#}x27;See e.g. Pyszka, Kessler, Massey, Weldon, Catri, Holton & Douberley, P.A. v. Mullin, 17 F.L.W. D111 (Fla. 3rd DCA Dec. 24, 1991)

appeal, even if you are not a party to the appeal and she loses.⁶ Furthermore, the records of any company in which you hold a financial interest might be subpoenaed.'

"I will probably devote over 100 hours on discovery of your income, assets, and expenses. Your ex-wife's attorney will spend even more time, since he will bill several hours preparing for each deposition he takes. It might be necessary for both sides to retain expensive forensic accountants. If you want to avoid this financial discovery and over \$50,000 in attorney's fees and costs, we can file a stipulation as to your ability to pay any increase in child support which the trial court deems to be reasonable."

Faced with the prospect of paying such staggering **fees** and costs, and the aggravation associated with a discovery process equivalent to an IRS audit, the ex-husband instructs his attorney to file with the court a stipulation that he is able to pay an increase in child support which the court deems reasonable. Several Florida appellate decisions have approved of this method to limit financial discovery in post-dissolution modification litigation. Alterman v. Alterman, 361 So.2d. 773 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1378); Braverman v. Braverman, 549 So.2d 750 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1389); Granville v. Granville, 445 Source 362 (Fla.

⁷See e.g. Palmer v. Servis, 393 So.2d 653 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981).

⁶See **Pyszka,** Kessler, **Massey, Weldon, Catri,** Holton & Douberley, P.A. v. Mullin, 17 F.L.W. D1703 (Fla. 3rd DCA July 14, 1992).

1st DCA 1984). The filing of such a stipulation is designed to streamline the litigation and allow the court and the parties to focus on the most important issue - the financial needs of the children.

The Petitioner and Amicus rely on Orlowitz v. Orlowitz, 199 So.2d 97 (Fla. 1967) and Parker V. Parker, 182 So.2d 498 (Fla. 4th DCA 1966) in support of their contention that the former husband in a postdissolution modification proceeding cannot insulate himself from financial discovery. Neither of these cases is controlling, since each simply established that in an initial, full proceeding for dissolution of marriage, financial discovery is necessary to determine equitable distribution, alimony and support. Schou does not suggest that the parties should be deprived of financial discovery in an initial dissolution action. However, in post-dissolution litigation such as this, where the Court must decide only the amount of increased child support, the Court should limit costly and unnecessary financial discovery when the father admits an increased ability to pay. As the Supreme Court in Orlowitz recognized "[t]here are no doubt many instances in which a court should exercise its power to protect a party against an unwarranted disclosure of the details of his financial holdings." Id. at 98.

Miller and Amicus also rely on two First District decisions, Eyster v. Eyster, 503 So.2d 340 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), rev. denied 513 So.2d 1061 (Fla. 1987) (which pertains to an alimony modification petition) and Walton v. Walton, 537 So.2d 658 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989)

CASE NO: 78,636

(which pertains to both alimony and child support modification). Both cases are factually distinguishable because in neither is it apparent from the opinion that the wife was seeking a specific sum of money as alimony or child support with the father admitting the ability to pay that sum. In the present case, Miller's financial affidavit dated May 29, 1990 (Exhibit "C") (R.17-20) reveals the upper limit to the increased child support was \$2,831.33 (the child's one-third share of anticipated living expenses, plus expenses attributable solely to the child) and Schou has admitted an ability to pay up to \$3,000 per month if that is what the trial court deems reasonable (R.25-6). Furthermore, **Eyster** and *Walton* failed to take into consideration the exorbitant costs and fees associated with financial discovery, and they are inconsistent with an earlier First District decision, **Granville** v. Granville, 445 So.2d 362 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984).

In Granville, which involved post-dissolution child support modification, the court held:

In view of the unique circumstances regarding husband's reputation and career as a market forecaster; the fact that he has stipulated to his financial ability and willingness to pay a reasonable increase in child support; the almost oppressive interrogatories requested by the wife, as well as her failure to specify any dollar amounts of the modifications requested, we find that the trial court erred in denying husband's motion for protective order in that such denial would, in our opinion, result in irreparable harm that could not be cured on direct appeal.

Id. at 365.

The mere fact that Mr. Granville is a we 1 known market forecaster is insufficient to distinguish this case from **Eyster** and Walton. Mr. Granville's privacy could have been easily secured with a confidentiality order if the court had determined that financial discovery was necessary. Therefore, an intra-court conflict on this issue is evident in the First District.

Four of the judges an the First District, Judge Zehmer (in Eyster, dissenting opinion), and Judges Ervin, Thompson, and Nimmons (in Granville), have concluded that in a post-dissolution matter, the ex-husband can insulate himself from intrusive financial discovery by admitting an ability to pay a reasonable increase in alimony or support. In his dissenting opinion in Eyster, Judge Zehmer stated:

In this modification proceeding, since the husband admits to being able to pay any reasonable increase in alimony, the sole disputed issue is whether the wife, due to a changed financial need, is entitled to an increase in alimony; and the court should not even permit, let alone require, discovery of the former husband's financial ability to pay the requested increase. Palmar v. Palmar, 402 So.2d 20 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981). The former wife's motion for modification should identify the basis and amount of her increased need, and the former husband's stipulated ability and willingness to pay any reasonable amount set by the court within the requested range should be binding upon him, the same as any other admission by a defendant in answer to the plaintiff's allegations seeking affirmative Once the former husband's ability to pay is relief. admitted, consideration of that factor is no longer a matter of discretion with the trial court; it must be accepted as established. There is simply no legally sufficient reason for the trial court to permit the former wife to engage in discovery and litigation of undisputed and admitted issues concerning the former husband's financial situation.

Id. at 344-5. This reasoning applies with equal logic to a petition for an increase in child support.

While a substantial increase in ability to pay may be <u>grounds</u> for an increase in child support, the child's needs must be taken into account to determine the <u>amount</u> of increase.' This two-step analysis is similar to the determination of liability and damages in tort law. The father's increased income is analogous to tort liability, and the child's increased needs are analogous to damages. If the father stipulates as to his ability to pay, it is the same as a defendant in a negligence action admitting liability. It is no longer necessary

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